ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 22 2016

80 SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEPHENO JEMAIN ALSTON,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002134

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Lara M. Caudy
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I N D E X

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial judge properly denied Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence found in his vehicle where the officer did not have reasonable suspicion Petitioner was involved in criminal activity or probable cause to stop Petitioner's car for a traffic violation?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial judge properly denied Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence found in his vehicle where the officer's continued detention of Petitioner exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and constituted a second seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment and where the officer did not have reasonable and articulable suspicion of a serious crime or Petitioner's consent to extend the stop?

3.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial judge properly denied Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence found in his vehicle where Petitioner's consent to search was not freely and voluntarily given, and even if it was freely and voluntarily given, was invalid as an exploitation of an unlawful detention?

STATEMENT

A Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on June 20, 2011 for trafficking in cocaine. R. 211-212. His case was called to trial on March 18, 2013 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole, and a jury. R. 1. Petitioner was tried in his absence after he did not appear for trial. R. 6, ll. 20-25; R. 97, l. 3 – 98, l. 9. Assistant Solicitor J. Edward Hunter represented the state, and Andrew J. Johnston represented Petitioner. R. 1.

On March 19, 2013, the jury found Petitioner guilty. R. 202, ll. 19-25. The sealed sentence was opened on September 19, 2013. R. 203. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years imprisonment and a \$200,000 fine. R. 206, ll. 20-24.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence on July 29, 2015. State v. Alston, 2015-UP-381 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 29, 2015); App. 1-8. Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing on August 13, 2015. App. 9-21. On September 15, 2015, the Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing. App. 22.

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals with this Court on October 26, 2015. The state filed a Return on November 24, 2015. By order dated July 18, 2016, this Court granted certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

This Brief of Petitioner follows.

Motion to Suppress

Petitioner moved pretrial to suppress the cocaine seized from his vehicle in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. R. 7, ll. 24-25. In response to Petitioner's motion, the state called Deputy Donnie Gilbert of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office to testify *in camera*. During Gilbert's testimony, the state also played the audio and video recording of the traffic stop from

Gilbert's in-car camera. R. 14, l. 18 – 15, l. 13; R. 25, ll. 3-4; R. 30, l. 9; R. 30, l. 22; R. 34, l. 12; R. 36, l. 22; R. 39, l. 21-24.

A. Testimony

On Monday, March 28, 2011, Deputy Gilbert was “monitoring traffic on Interstate 85” in Spartanburg County. R. 12, ll. 13-17. He was parked perpendicular to traffic on the northbound side of the interstate when he “observed a Hyundai Santa Fe pass [his] location and failed to maintain its lane of travel.” Gilbert claimed, “[A]fter it passed by me its left side tire struck the dotted line that divides the middle lane, which it was traveling in, and the fast lane, which would've been to its left. Then it drifted back into the middle of that middle lane.” He later clarified, “Now, when I say struck, what I would mean by that is that tire could have covered that whole line, but it didn't go all the way across it. But it did make contact with that line and then drift back into the middle of that lane.” Gilbert admitted Petitioner never crossed the dotted line. Petitioner merely “rode on top of it.” R. 43, l. 21 – 45, l. 2.

Due to this perceived traffic violation, Gilbert pursued the vehicle and, once he caught up to it, activated his blue lights. The driver immediately pulled over to the “emergency shoulder” on the right side of the road. R. 12, l. 22 – 14, l. 10.

As he approached the car, “the first thing [Gilbert] noticed was in the rear cargo area there was some luggage covered up by a blanket.” R. 16, ll. 3-6. Gilbert claimed, “That's not common with the motoring public that I come into contact with every day. You just don't see that. You don't see the people to actually take the time to cover it with a blanket. They put their luggage in there and go.” R. 40, l. 19 – 41, l. 2.

After noticing the luggage, Gilbert walked to the passenger side window and the driver, who was later identified as Petitioner, immediately asked him “why he was being stopped.” R. 16, ll. 5-

9. Gilbert claimed Petitioner's question was not "normal." He said, "It's not consistent with the innocent motoring public. Ninety-nine percent of the time [motorists] will let - - they will let me explain why, basically get to that point." R. 17, ll. 2-6.

After obtaining Petitioner's driver's license, Gilbert learned Petitioner's identity and that he was from Rome, Georgia, which the officer maintained was south of Atlanta.¹ The fact that Petitioner was from an area near Atlanta caused Gilbert some concern. He explained, "Me being involved in the interdiction community, Atlanta is a major hub for criminal activity in the southeast." Moreover, the fact that Petitioner was traveling on Interstate 85 also caused Gilbert some concern. He said, "Again, me being involved in the interdiction community, Interstate 85 is a major criminal activity corridor connecting Atlanta to many routes to the south and to the north of that." R. 17, l. 8 – 18, l. 6.

When Gilbert asked Petitioner for the paperwork for the car, Petitioner produced a rental contract. R. 18, ll. 10-13. Gilbert learned from the contract that the car was rented in Cartersville, Georgia, which is also in the Atlanta area. The car was rented on Saturday, March 26, 2011, which was two days before the stop, to a Tomeka Harris.² Gilbert claimed the fact that the vehicle was rented to a third party raised his suspicion because "in [his] training and experience, that is very common when it comes to criminal activity. They will have a third-party rental in their possession. That way if they are involved in criminal activity they're not in their vehicle. So that vehicle won't get seized when they get caught." R. 20, l. 13 – 21, l. 2. Gilbert also said he thought it was suspicious the car was rented in a woman's name because "a lot of your criminal organizations will rent a vehicle in a woman's name for the simple fact that law enforcement does not - - they are not

¹ Rome, Georgia is actually northwest of Atlanta.

² This person is also referred to as Tomesha Harris in other places in the record.

threatened by a woman. They don't recognize criminal activity with a female. At least that's what the drug trafficking organizations think." R. 21, ll. 3-11.

According to Gilbert, the rental contract indicated the car was only allowed to be operated in five states: Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, Virginia, and West Virginia. Since Petitioner was stopped in South Carolina, he was driving in a state that was not listed on the rental contract as a place where he was permitted to travel. R. 21, ll. 12-24. Gilbert said, "Another thing that raised a big flag with me is why he's putting the states on here like Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, West Virginia, and Virginia. In my mind that automatically makes me think that from the beginning of the trip he was trying to avoid Interstate 85." R. 26, ll. 10-14.

Gilbert also claimed, "There was a key in the ignition that is consistent with the car being a rental, just one key. And on the key ring there was two house keys on the key ring, which is very odd. I mean, you don't see that. Anytime somebody rents a vehicle, in my training and experience and in the fourteen years of being involved in law enforcement, you don't see other people took or take their house keys and put [them] on the key ring for the rental. To us, in my training and experience, they're trying to personalize the vehicle." R. 22, ll. 13-25.

Gilbert eventually asked Petitioner to get out of the car and stand near his patrol vehicle. As Petitioner did so, Gilbert noticed an air freshener in the "driver's door pocket." Gilbert said, "To me, that's also odd because in a rental vehicle you just don't see people go straight to a store and buy an air freshener and put it in a rental vehicle if it's not yours." He claimed an air freshener "could be used as a masking agent to hide odors of other things, which could be drugs, could be

anything that he's trying to hide that he doesn't want you to smell."³ R. 23, l. 1 – 24, l. 24.

When questioned by Gilbert, Petitioner told him that Tomeka Harris was his girlfriend. Petitioner also explained he was traveling to Newark, New Jersey to pick up his mother and bring her back to Georgia for Mother's Day. Gilbert said this was "another red flag" since New Jersey was another state not listed on the rental agreement and because Mother's Day was not until May and this was the end of March. R. 25, l. 15 – 27, l. 6. Petitioner later told Gilbert he was concerned about his mother's health and was afraid she was not being honest about her condition so "[he] figured [he] would go up there and see what's going on." R. 35, ll. 1-5.

When Gilbert asked Petitioner how long he planned on staying in New Jersey, Petitioner "advised somewhere around a week, yeah, something like that, just whenever [his mother] gets ready to leave, when [Petitioner] get[s] rested up." Gilbert said he specifically asked Petitioner if he was going to stay in New Jersey until the following Monday and Petitioner said, "Yeah, something like that . . ." Gilbert noted the rental vehicle was due back the upcoming Saturday, which was two days before Petitioner said he expected to head back to Georgia. R. 34, l. 20 – 35, l. 21; R. 27, l. 10 – 28, l. 1.

While Gilbert was writing Petitioner a warning ticket for failure to maintain a lane, the officer asked Petitioner what he did for a living. Gilbert testified Petitioner told him he owned a clothing store in Rome, Georgia, and that "he had to make a living somehow, he had six kids to feed." Gilbert asked Petitioner how old his children were and Petitioner allegedly gave the ages of seven kids. When asked by the solicitor what this meant to him, Gilbert testified, "He's not keeping

³ While Gilbert claimed during the suppression hearing that cocaine has an odor depending on its volume and the way it is packaged, he admitted he did not smell any cocaine that day. R. 51, l. 9 – 52, l. 6. He later admitted during his trial testimony that he could not smell any odor coming from the four hundred and thirty-four grams of cocaine present in the courtroom. R. 144, l. 25 – 145, l. 13; R. 169, ll. 21-22.

up with - - it's the stress of the situation. He's not even being able to keep up with how old the kids are and how many he's got." R. 33, l. 7 – 34, l. 11.

After Gilbert checked Petitioner's license, he went back to his vehicle and called Deputy Jason Carraway. Gilbert said he was trying "to figure out if [Carraway] was close to [him] or not." However, Carraway told Gilbert "that he had to go to his house to pick up his [drug] dog and then come back." Since Carraway would not be able to arrive at the scene with his drug dog for some time, Gilbert explained, "I went ahead and switched to channel 1 to see if anybody on uniform patrol was close to me at that point in time." Gilbert said, "They had somebody coming to me, but I think it was - - they didn't say how long it was going to be, but [the person coming] wasn't necessarily in the same area as me." R. 31, ll. 1-11.

Gilbert continued to wait for another law enforcement officer to arrive at the scene. He knew he was going to ask Petitioner for consent to search his vehicle, but he explained, "I've done got to the point to where I'm not going to ask for consent until I actually get somebody else there with me for the simple fact that a lot of times things start getting a lot - - a little tense and people start figuring out what's actually going on when you start asking for consent to search." R. 35, l. 22 – 36, l. 21.

About sixteen minutes and thirty seconds into the traffic stop, and after "First Sergeant Barnett from the uniform patrol" arrived on scene, Gilbert asked Petitioner for consent to search his car. R. 38, l. 25 – 39, l. 1. Gilbert testified, "I then asked for consent to search the vehicle. And instead of answering the question, which I encounter sometimes," Petitioner said he was "just trying to figure out what this is all about." Gilbert "advised him that I'm just asking a question." Petitioner then asked Gilbert "why you want to search the vehicle? And [Gilbert] explained to him I'm not going to answer that until everything's done." At some point, according to Gilbert,

Petitioner eventually told Gilbert he could search the car. As Gilbert began to approach the car, he hesitated and walked back to Petitioner. He claimed he told Petitioner he could refuse consent, but Petitioner allegedly told Gilbert again that he could search the car. However, Petitioner did say at one point that “I’m not giving you consent, you the one giving consent.” Petitioner also repeatedly asked Gilbert why he wanted to search the car. R. 37, l. 6 – 38, l. 21; R. 66, l. 3 – 69, l. 17.

With the assistance of Captain Hollifield and Deputy Carraway, who by then had arrived at the scene, Gilbert searched the car. R. 40, ll. 7-10. The officers discovered cocaine in the steering column. R. 156, l. 21 – 159, l. 21.

On cross-examination, Gilbert conceded that when he first approached the passenger window, he did not see any guns or any other weapons nor did he smell alcohol, marijuana, or cocaine. R. 50, l. 14 – 52, l. 6. He admitted he called both the tag for the vehicle and Petitioner’s driver’s license into dispatch and both came back “clear.” Gilbert said, “Everything was clear on his license, and the tag came back to that vehicle.” R. 53, l. 21 – 54, l. 24. He learned this information from dispatch while he was writing Petitioner a warning for failure to maintain a lane. R. 54, l. 25 – 55, l. 5.

While Gilbert claimed he could not remember when he completed the warning, he admitted he never gave the warning to Petitioner nor did he return Petitioner’s license and paperwork before he asked for consent to search. Significantly, Gilbert acknowledged the warning form was very simple and required very little information to complete. R. 59, l. 1 – 60, l. 11; R. 61, l. 12 – 63, l. 15.

Additionally, Gilbert admitted he did not inform Petitioner that he was free to leave before he asked for consent to search the car. He said, “In my judgment [Petitioner was] not free to leave as it is.” Gilbert clarified that, even though he had checked Petitioner’s license and paperwork,

which both came back clear, and had written Petitioner a warning, he did not think Petitioner was free to leave. R. 63, l. 16 – 64, l. 13. While Gilbert refused to speculate whether Petitioner believed at that point that he was free to leave, he did admit that a second uniformed officer had arrived on scene and parked behind Gilbert's patrol car by the time he asked Petitioner for consent to search. R. 64, l. 14 – 65, l. 15.

Gilbert again conceded that at the time he asked for consent to search, he had not seen or smelled any drugs or alcohol nor had he seen any weapons. He also confirmed he had checked Petitioner's license, the vehicle tag, and the rental agreement, and all were valid. Gilbert claimed he ultimately asked Petitioner for consent to search the car after he had observed behavior he found to be suspicious and after noting that Petitioner was traveling from the Atlanta area on Interstate 85. R. 69, l. 20 – 70, l. 25.

B. Arguments by Counsel

After Gilbert finished testifying, defense counsel told the court he had "some concern about the initial reason for the stop." He said, "The officer stated that the vehicle being driven by Mr. Alston [Petitioner] never crossed the dotted line, but he used the word struck, that [the car] had struck [the line] and then it went back into his lane, which would've been the proper thing to do." Defense counsel argued this was not a "sufficient basis for the stop." R. 84, l. 16 – 85, l. 5.

Counsel also argued there was no valid consent to search the vehicle. He pointed out that Petitioner unequivocally stated, "I'm not giving consent, you're giving consent." However, counsel argued that "if there was, in fact, a valid consent, it was obtained by prolonged detention." He asserted that after the officer determined Petitioner had a valid license and that the vehicle tag was clear, he wrote Petitioner a warning. R. 85, l. 6 – 86, l. 5. He continued:

[B]ut the officer did not give the warning to Mr. Alston, we would argue, because **the officer was stalling for time to allow another officer to come on the scene.**

There is no clear delineation between the end of the stop and the request for consent. They run completely into one another. The officer never says, okay, I've checked you out, here's your citation, you can leave. Oh, and by the way, do you mind if I search your car? There is no such demarcation between those two things in this case.

Your honor, it is our position that **Mr. Alston was illegally seized at that point because the purpose of the stop had been fulfilled.** As I said earlier, all of the things that the officer's entitled to do had been done and the officer had begun to write the warning citation with that very little bit of information that it requires.

So we move from a situation where he doesn't have anything left to do with the traffic stop and he begins to conduct a narcotics investigation. But **he's conducting that narcotics investigation without reasonable articulable suspicion.**

Mr. Alston was not free to go per the officer. And I think the officer concedes that Mr. Alston would have known that he wasn't free to leave. The fact that another officer had come on the scene, the fact that he'd been pulled over with a blue light, the fact that the officer was [in] uniform, has his guns, gun with him, I think that Mr. Alston is at that point seized. And I would argue to the court that based on the cases that that seizure, **that second seizure was in violation of the Fourth Amendment because it was without probable cause and without reasonable articulable suspicion.**

R. 86, l. 5 – 87, l. 11 (emphasis added).

In response, the solicitor argued the officer had probable cause that a traffic violation had occurred, had reasonable articulable suspicion to detain Petitioner longer than necessary to issue the warning ticket, and that Petitioner had voluntarily consented to the search. Therefore, the state concluded the cocaine should not be suppressed. R. 95, ll. 9-15. The solicitor claimed Gilbert had reasonable articulable suspicion to prolong the stop because of a multitude of factors, including (1) Interstate 85 is a "known criminal corridor;" (2) Atlanta is a "source city for drugs;" (3) the discrepancies between Petitioner's answers and the rental agreement; (4) the luggage was covered

by a blanket; (5) the additional keys on the key ring; (6) the air freshener found in the car; and (7) the third party rental. R. 90, l. 12 - 93, l. 18.

C. Court's Ruling

The trial court ultimately ruled, "I find that the stop made by the officer was pursuant to a valid traffic stop, that it was based upon probable cause, that the detention resulting from that stop was, based upon the totality of the circumstances as presented by the evidence in this case, was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment and that the search made of the vehicle which resulted in the seizure of evidence to be used in the trial against him was based upon consent and in this case with actual acknowledge of his right to refuse consent. All right. And, therefore, the motion to suppress is denied." R. 98, ll. 10-20.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding the trial judge properly denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress the evidence found in his vehicle where the officer did not have reasonable suspicion Petitioner was involved in criminal activity or probable cause to stop Petitioner’s car for a traffic violation.

The Fourth Amendment, made applicable to the states by way of the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV; Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961). A traffic stop constitutes a Fourth Amendment seizure and, therefore, must be reasonable under the circumstances. State v. Vinson, 400 S.C. 347, 351, 734 S.E.2d 182, 184 (Ct. App. 2012) (internal citations omitted). “Reasonableness is measured in objective terms by examining the totality of circumstances.” Id., at 352, 734 S.E.2d at 184 (quoting State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 101, 623 S.E.2d 840, 849 (2005)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “A traffic stop is not unreasonable if conducted with probable cause to believe a traffic violation had occurred, or when the officer has reasonable suspicion the occupants are involved in criminal activity.” Vinson, 400 S.C. at 352, 734 S.E.2d at 184 (citing State v. Burgess, 394 S.C. 407, 412, 714 S.E.2d 917, 919 (Ct. App. 2011)); Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) (“As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”). “Moreover, a police officer’s subjective intentions play no role in ordinary, probable-cause Fourth Amendment analysis.” Vinson, 400 S.C. at 352, 734 S.E.2d at 184 (quoting State v. Corley, 383 S.C. 232, 241, 679 S.E.2d 187, 192 (Ct. App. 2009)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

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