STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

OCT 17 2018

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-002134

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

STEPHENO JEMAIN ALSTON,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence supporting the ruling. See State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 251, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2016) (“[A]ppellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court's ruling.”); State v. Morris, 411 S.C. 571, 578, 769 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2015) (“ ‘When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.’ ” (citation omitted)). Critically, the appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a

different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009); see Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. at 70, 572 S.E.2d at 459 (“In State v. Brockman, . . . [w]e concluded the appellate court would not review the trial judge’s ultimate determination de novo but, rather, would apply a deferential standard of review.”).

ANALYSIS

A. Propriety of the Initial Traffic Stop

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Significantly, based on the plain language of that constitutional provision, the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”). As a result, **only** unreasonable searches and seizures are constitutionally prohibited, and law enforcement officers are not required to be perfect or mistake-free in order to be in compliance with the constitutional requirements regarding searches and seizures. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them ‘fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.’ ” (citation omitted)).

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, “[a] police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of

probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535, 539 (Ct. App. 1999); see State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 402, 412 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1991) (“To justify a brief stop and detention, the police officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person has been involved in criminal activity.”); see also United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (“[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity ‘may be afoot,’ even if the officer lacks probable cause.” (citation omitted)). The reasonableness of a stop or detention “is measured in objective terms by examining the totality of the circumstances.” Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996).

For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). While the Fourth Amendment requires a stop to be reasonable under the circumstances, the initiation of an automobile stop is reasonable per se when either probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred or reasonable suspicion exists to believe the occupants of the vehicle are involved in criminal activity. See Knight v. State, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable per se.”); see also Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) (“An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be ‘unreasonable’ under the circumstances. As a general

mater, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”).

Reasonable suspicion consists of “ ‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)). “Reasonable suspicion ‘is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.’ ” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 500, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004)). “In this highly fact-specific inquiry, reasonable suspicion ‘is a fluid concept which takes its substantive content from the particular context in which the standard is being assessed.’ ” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 51-52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Foreman, 369 F.3d at 781), cert. dismissed as improvidently granted, 401 S.C. 264, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2012). The reasonable suspicion standard “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence[.]” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000). “Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”).

Likewise, “probable cause is a flexible, common-sense standard.” Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 741 (1983). “The very term itself, ‘probable cause,’ does not import absolute certainty.” In re Care and Treatment of Brown v. State, 372 S.C. 611, 619, 643 S.E.2d 118, 122

(Ct. App. 2007). The probable cause standard merely requires that the facts and circumstances available to the officer at the time of a stop would warrant a reasonably cautious person in the same situation to believe an offense has been committed and the person stopped committed it. See id. at 619-620, 643 S.E.2d at 122 (instructing probable cause only requires that the facts available to an officer would warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief an offense has been committed and the accused committed it); see also Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (1992) (“Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.”). Importantly, the probable cause standard does **not** demand any showing the officer’s belief was correct or more likely true than false. Brown, 460 U.S. at 742. “Probable cause may be found somewhere between suspicion and sufficient evidence to convict.” Blassingame, 338 S.C. at 250, 525 S.E.2d at 540.

In the case sub judice, Deputy Gilbert possessed reasonable suspicion to initiate an investigatory stop of Alston’s vehicle after he observed Alston “drift” in his lane of travel and drive onto the dotted line dividing Alston’s lane of travel from another traffic lane on several different occasions before activating his patrol vehicle’s blue lights. Significantly, the officer possessed reasonable suspicion because Alston’s “drifting” within his lane reasonably led the officer to suspect Alston could have been impaired or driving under the influence, which provided Deputy Gilbert with a valid basis upon which to initiate a traffic stop.¹² See Heien, 135 S. Ct. at 536 (“[T]o justify [a traffic stop], officers need only ‘reasonable suspicion’ – that is, ‘a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped’ of breaking the

¹² Notably, Deputy Gilbert clearly expressed his concern about Alston’s possible impairment at the very outset of the traffic stop by quickly asking Alston whether he had had anything to drink. (State’s Ex. # 2).

law.” (citation omitted)); see also People v. Loucks, 135 Ill. App. 3d 530, 533, 481 N.E.2d 1086, 1087 (Ill. App. Ct. 1985) (“Weaving within the lane of traffic in which a vehicle is traveling provides a sufficient basis for an investigatory stop of a motor vehicle, and in the instant case the evidence was undisputed that the vehicle the defendant was driving was weaving within its own lane of travel continuously for a distance of about two blocks. Such erratic driving provided Officer Cassidy with articulable facts that there was a substantial possibility that the defendant had committed, was committing, or was about to commit an offense. The undisputed evidence showed that Officer Cassidy had sufficient basis for making an investigative stop of the defendant’s motor vehicle.”); State v. Ellanson, 293 Minn. 490, 491, 198 N.W.2d 136, 137 (Minn. 1972) (holding an officer had the right to stop Ellanson in order to investigate the cause of his unusual driving where the officer observed Ellanson’s weaving within his own lane of travel); State v. Dorendorf, 359 N.W.2d 115, 117 (N.D. 1984) (“[A] vehicle’s weaving within its own lane of traffic may be caused by a number of reasons, among them: 1) the driver is tired, 2) the vehicle has equipment problems, or 3) the driver is under the influence of alcohol. The officers stopped Dorendorf to determine exactly what was causing the vehicle to weave. . . . We conclude that the circumstances in the instant case justified the initial stop of Dorendorf.”); State v. Lange, 255 N.W.2d 59, 63 (N.D. 1977) (“Although Lange places great emphasis on the fact that his vehicle did not at any time cross the center line, we do not think a police officer who has been alerted to a possible DWI suspect and who observes the vehicle wandering in its lane of traffic need wait for the driver to commit a traffic offense or become involved in an accident before he has probable cause to stop the vehicle.”); State v. Bailey, 51 Or. App. 173, 175, 624 P.2d 663, 664 (Or. Ct. App. 1981) (“We now hold . . . that the observation of a vehicle weaving within its own lane for a substantial distance gives rise to probable cause to believe that the

driver is driving under the influence of intoxicants and justifies a stop for further investigation.”); Leming v. State, 493 S.W.3d 552, 560-561 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016) (“Failing to stay entirely within a single lane is not an offense if it is prudent to deviate to some degree to avoid colliding with an unexpected fallen branch or a cyclist who has strayed from his bike lane. But indiscriminate and purposeless swerving is its own actionable offense under Section 545.060, regardless of whether the particular circumstances permit such deviation to occur without endangering anyone. . . . [The officer] knew from personal observation that [Leming] had several times at least come very *close* to entering the adjacent lane – even if he could not quite tell whether [Leming] had actually entered it – and he knew that [another driver] had also observed the Jeep to be ‘swerving’ even before [the officer] arrived on the scene. This was sufficient information to justify a temporary detention to investigate whether [Leming] had actually failed at some point to remain in his dedicated lane of traffic as far it was practical to do so under the circumstances. It matters not whether that failure was unsafe.”).

Moreover, notwithstanding the fact the stop was valid in light of the fact the officer possessed reasonable suspicion, Deputy Gilbert also had probable cause to stop Alston for a traffic violation. Significantly, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-1900(a), a driver driving on a roadway in South Carolina that is divided into two or more clearly marked traffic lanes shall drive his or her vehicle “as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane and shall not [move the vehicle] from the lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety.” Importantly, the term “practicable” has been defined as “reasonably capable of being accomplished” or “feasible.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 1291 (9th ed. 2009); see generally State v. Bolin, 378 S.C. 96, 100, 662 S.E.2d 38, 40 (2008) (indicating a statute’s words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction

in order to limit or expand the statute's operation). Before initiating the traffic stop of Alston's vehicle, Deputy Gilbert observed Alston "drift" outside of his lane when Alston drove onto the dotted dividing line, which clearly was **not** a part of Alston's lane of travel as the line's express purpose was to divide his lane from the one next to it and the line itself certainly could not be a part of two separate lanes simultaneously. See Wade v. State, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2002) ("[A] court must reject a statute's interpretation leading to absurd results not intended by the Legislature."); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-430 ("The entire width **between boundary lines** of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel is a '*street*' or '*highway*.' " (emphasis added)). At that time, there were no road conditions or exigent circumstances making it unfeasible or impracticable for Alston to operate his vehicle entirely within his own lane of travel, and Alston never even suggested to the officer there was something that caused him to drift onto the dividing line when informed of the basis for the stop. (State's Ex. # 2). Under those circumstances, Alston failed to maintain his vehicle within a single lane as nearly as practicable and, thus, was guilty of committing a traffic violation, which provided Deputy Gilbert with a valid probable cause basis for initiating the traffic stop.¹³ See State v. Vinson, 400 S.C. 347,

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